Public Document Pack

Argyll and Bute Council Comhairle Earra Ghaidheal agus Bhoid

Customer Services Executive Director: Douglas Hendry *Bute

Kilmory, Lochgilphead, PA31 8RT Tel: 01546 602127 Fax: 01546 604435 DX 599700 LOCHGILPHEAD e.mail –douglas.hendry@argyll-bute.gov.uk

19 February 2013

NOTICE OF MEETING

A meeting of the LOCAL LICENSING FORUM will be held in COMMITTEE ROOM 1, KILMORY, LOCHGILPHEAD on TUESDAY, 26 FEBRUARY 2013 at 10:30 AM, which you are requested to attend.

Douglas Hendry
Executive Director - Customer Services

BUSINESS

- 1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
- 2. MINUTES
 - (a) NOTE OF INQUORATE MEETING OF LOCAL LICENSING FORUM 11 APRIL 2012 (Pages 1 4)
 - (b) NOTE OF INQUORATE MEETING OF LOCAL LICENSING FORUM 18 JULY 2012 (Pages 5 6)
 - (c) NOTE OF INQUORATE MEETING OF LOCAL LICENSING FORUM 17
 OCTOBER 2012 (Pages 7 10)
 - (d) JOINT MEETING OF ARGYLL AND BUTE LICENSING BOARD AND LOCAL LICENSING FORUM 19 DECEMBER 2012 (Pages 11 14)
- 3. FEEDBACK FROM LICENSING BOARD ON REVIEW OF LICENSING POLICY STATEMENT
- 4. LICENSING (SCOTLAND) ACT 2005, SECTION 12A: CHIEF CONSTABLES' REPORTS TO LICENSING BOARDS AND LOCAL LICENSING FORUMS
 Report by the Chief Constable for the information of Argyll & Bute Licensing Board and Argyll and Bute Licensing Forum in accordance with Section 12 A of the Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005 for financial year April 2011 to March 2012. (Pages 15 22)

5. DRAFT ARGYLL AND BUTE ALCOHOL AND DRUG PARTNERSHIP STRATEGY 2013 - 2016

Draft Strategy 2013 – 2016 by Argyll and Bute Alcohol and Drug Partnership (ADP) circulated for information. Feedback comments and views on the Strategy had to be submitted by 31 January 2013. (Pages 23 - 44)

6. FUTURE ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION

LOCAL LICENSING FORUM

Contact: Shona Marshall Tel. No. 01546 604407

MINUTES of MEETING of LOCAL LICENSING FORUM held in the COUNCIL CHAMBER, KILMORY, LOCHGILPHEAD on WEDNESDAY, 11 APRIL 2012

Present: Kenneth Harrison (Chair)

Alistair Davidson, Strathclyde Police Eric Dearie, Licensing Standards Officer Raymond Park, Licensing Standards Officer Calum MacLachlainn, Licensed Trade Fred Bruce, Community Representative Raymond Boyle, Community Representative Sheila Johnston, Community Representative

Attending: Peter Robertson, Argyll and Bute Council

Graeme Forrester, Argyll and Bute Council Shona Marshall, Argyll and Bute Council Linda Bowie, Alcohol Focus Scotland Caroline Church, Alcohol Focus Scotland

J Woods, Alcohol Focus Scotland

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from Martin Donovan, Tim Saul, Eric Box, Cath Cakebread, Catherine Dobbie, Roanna Clark, Caroline Smith and Elaine Garman.

Brian Kupris, who had been a member of the Forum since its inception, had tendered his resignation due to work commitments. It was noted that a letter of thanks would be sent to him for his contribution to the work of the Forum.

2. MINUTES

The Minutes of the meeting of the Local Licensing Forum held on Tuesday 24 January 2012 were noted.

3. ALCOHOL FOCUS SCOTLAND

Linda Bowie, Senior Officer (Public Health & Licensing), Alcohol Focus Scotland gave a presentation on Local Licensing Forums (LLFs), as viewed by her organisation.

She outlined the background to LLFs and;

- Legislation on membership of Forums
- Legislation on the function of Forums
- Limitations to the role
- The function of the Licensing Board
- How the role could be approached
- The links between public health and licensing
- How Forums were performing

Page 2

- Why some Forums worked better than others
- What the learning points were; and
- Working together.

Alcohol Focus Scotland (AFS) was available to provide advice to LLFs if requested, but a Forum was under no obligation to contact them. However, AFS was unable to tell a Forum on how it should operate within their area.

She went on to suggest that the Forum consider the 5 Licensing Objectives and identify a key area(s) from which a particular issue(s) could be identified for development and recommendation to the Licensing Board (LB). This could potentially involve individual members taking ownership of a topic, discussing and researching the issue within their own and partner organisations and bringing it together in a cohesive format for presentation to the LB.

When presenting proposals to the LB, she suggested that the Forum put it in writing in a clear and concise manner, collect evidence and provide two or three recommendations for consideration. This would go some way to ensure improved communication and understanding between the Forum and the LB, and potentially help prevent the difficulties previously encountered during discussions.

She concluded her presentation by highlighting that the key to a successful relationship between a LLF and LB was communication. Members were then invited to ask questions.

Responding to a query on why some LLFs performed better than others, it was highlighted that they tended to be Forums which had dedicated administrative support, and members who had the time and capacity to collate evidence and present it to the LB in a cohesive format.

Decision

The Forum noted what Linda had said and thanked her for her interesting, informative and helpful presentation.

4. RE-THINKING OF ALCOHOL LICENSING - INTRODUCTION OF CURFEWS AND STAGGERING OF VENUE CLOSING TIMES

The Chair referred to a letter received from Mary Ellmers, Head of Training and Development, Alcohol Focus Scotland. In it she referred to the meeting of the Forum held on 26 October 2011 and the discussion held on the "Re-thinking Alcohol Licensing" report.

She wished to clarify to the Forum that the report was concerned with the links between licensing and the significant rise in the consumption of alcohol from the 1960s onwards and the associated rise of alcohol-related harms. The report did not contain any support for the idea of extending licenses hours and she was surprised that discussion on the report had led to a discussion on the possibility of extending licensing hours.

The Chair explained that there had been discussion at the meeting on Argyll and Bute Local Licensing hours, but that this had not taken place directly in conjunction with the report. It was noted that the Chair would respond to her concerns.

Discussion then followed on the correlation between pre-loading at an off license, extended opening hours for nightclubs, and the resultant harmful impact of these on public health. Linda Bowie referred to Dumfries and Galloway where earlier closing times for licensed premises had shown a direct link to a reduction in the statistics for health related problems in the area.

The Forum was of the opinion that it would be beneficial to have a discussion with the LB on what the actual policy was for granting extensions or changing opening hours for licensed premises.

As a new policy was being drawn up for implementation in 2013, it was suggested that the LLF should raise any recommendations or comments with the LB on the proposed policy as soon as possible to enable meaningful discussion.

Decision

The Forum noted that;

- (i) the Chair would respond to Mary Ellmers, Head of Training and Development, Alcohol Focus Scotland;
- (ii) an Item be placed on the Agenda for the next meeting of the Forum which would bullet point topics the Forum wished to discuss for presentation in a cohesive format to the Licensing Board for consideration; and
- (iii) a draft list of these topics be passed to C MacLachlainn prior to the meeting to enable him to have an informal discussion with licensed premises representatives and bring their comments to the Forum.

5. ALCOHOL: THE FACTS IN FIFE 2011

Linda Bowie explained that the report was an example of a piece of work carried out by a Forum for which they had taken ownership, and had organised their thinking along the 5 policy objectives. This was their first attempt at gathering such information and intended for it to be carried out on a yearly basis. This would help the Forum to identify trends and shape strategies for discussion.

The report was not a model document for each LLF to follow, but was an example of Forum members working together and using the resources available to them.

Decision

The Forum noted that similar information could be gathered for the Argyll and Bute Area. A decision would have to be taken on who would pull the information together.

6. POLICE STATISTICS

There was tabled information on the "Number of Visits to Licensed Premises, LB Sub Division Jan 2012 – March 2012".

Inspector Alistair Davidson spoke to the report on the Summary of Storm Incidents, January – March 2012.

Page 4

Following this, Raymond Park, LSO, explained that visits by the police to licensed premises tended to take place following notification from a LSO.

There had been an increase in licensee holders attending training, such as courses run by Servewise, which had helped to reduce problems in premises. Licensees had a better understanding and awareness of their responsibilities for persons within and leaving their premises, and the impact on the surrounding neighbourhood.

Decision

Noted that the position and that further police statistics would be brought to the next meeting of the Forum.

7. UPDATE FROM LSO

The Forum noted the update from Eric Dearie.

Decision

Members noted the position and thanked him for his report.

8. ISSUE TRACKER

The Forum noted the following updates;

- (i) National Outcomes for LLF Second interim report would be out shortly;
- (ii) Promotion of LLF work was on going;
- (iii) Local Licensing Forum Conveners Linda Bowie invited the Chair to attend these meetings; and
- (iv) Educational DVD Don't make the same mistakes we did Ongoing

Caroline Church gave an update on the National Communities Project. She provided a range of statistics which had been gathered from the questionnaire issued to local residents in the Lochgilphead/Ardrishaig area. These were subject to change as further responses were returned.

9. FUTURE MEETING DATES

The Forum noted the following future meeting dates;

- Wednesday 18 July 2012
- Wednesday 17 October 2012

NOTE of INQUORATE MEETING of LOCAL LICENSING FORUM held in the COUNCIL CHAMBER, KILMORY, LOCHGILPHEAD on WEDNESDAY, 18 JULY 2012

Present: Kenny Harrison (Chair)

Calum MacLachlainn, Licensed Trade
J Russell Buchanan, Ex-Licensee
Martin Donovan, Licensed Trade
Fred Bruse, Community Representative

Fred Bruce, Community Representative

David Greenwell, ADAT

Catherine Dobbie, Education Support Officer Eric Dearie, Licensing Standard Officer

Attending: Peter Robertson, Legal Services Manager - Corporate

Sheila MacFadyen, Senior Solicitor

Caroline Church, AFS John Woods, AFS

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence had been received from Alasdair Davidson, Tim Saul, Eric Box, Sheila Johnston, Raymond Boyle, Roanna Clark and Elaine Garman.

2. MINUTES

In the absence of a quorum the Forum noted the Minute of the meeting held on 11 April 2012 and noted that this would go to the next meeting for approval.

3. ALCOHOL FOCUS SCOTLAND

The Forum noted the letter that had been sent to Mary Elmers in response to her letter regarding the Forum's discussion on the Re-thinking Alcohol Licensing Report.

In the absence of a quorum the Forum had an informal discussion on the format of future meetings to allow the Forum to operate in an efficient manner, to ensure that they had a focus and that they fulfilled their role of making recommendations to the Licensing Board. The following suggestions were made –

- A particular issue of interest to the Forum should be placed on the agenda for discussion at a meeting, should be the focus of that meeting, that a conclusion be reached at the meeting and any recommendations to the Board be taken forward.
- Background information should be collated on the issue to be discussed i.e. statistical information before the meeting of the Forum that a particular issue has to be discussed
- Any relevant organisation should be invited to attend a meeting to answer any
 questions the Forum may have and to provide any views on a particular issue to
 be discussed which would aid the Forum in reaching a conclusion on a particular

matter.

- Members of the Forum should be invited to email in suggestions for topics of discussion/questions before a meeting of the Forum which can be researched before that meeting and before discussion takes place.
- A decision should be made at the end of each meeting regarding the topic to be discussed/focus of the next meeting.

Those present agreed that the item to be discussed at the next meeting of the Forum should be whether or not a recommendation be made to the Board to review it's Policy in relation to processing licenses so that the Policy allows for certain specific premises to have extended opening hours.

4. CHIEF CONSTABLES' REPORTS TO LICENSING BOARDS AND LOCAL LICENSING FORUMS

It was noted that this would go to the next meeting of the Forum.

5. RE-THINKING OF ALCOHOL LICENSING - TOPICS FOR DISCUSSION WITH LICENSING BOARD

The Chair advised that a date of 10 August 2012 had been suggested for a Joint Meeting with the Licensing Board. He highlighted that this would be the first meeting with the new Licensing Board and that it would be helpful to have good attendance at this meeting.

6. POLICE STATISTICS

It was suggested that the Police Statistics be removed from the agenda for future meetings unless specifically asked for.

7. UPDATE FROM LSO

It was suggested that this item be removed from the agenda for future meetings of the Forum and anything of importance could be highlighted and placed on the agenda if required.

8. ISSUE TRACKER

There was no discussion under this item.

9. DATE FOR JOINT MEETING OF LICENSING BOARD AND LOCAL LICENSING FORUM

It was noted that there was a suggested date and time of 10 August 2012 at 2pm as there was a Licensing Board meeting being held in the morning of that day.

10. DATE OF NEXT MEETING

Noted as 17 October 2012.

NOTE of INQUORATE MEETING of LOCAL LICENSING FORUM held in COMMITTEE ROOM 1, KILMORY, LOCHGILPHEAD on WEDNESDAY, 17 OCTOBER 2012

Present: Kenneth Harrison (Chair)

Iain MacNaughton, Community Representative

David Greenwell, ADAT - Health Board

Cath Cakebread, Argyll and Bute Addiction Team Manager

Roanna Clark, Young Scot

Alana MacLachlan, Young Person, Oban Sarah Nicolson, Young Person, Lochgilphead

Elaine Garman, NHS Highland

Eric Dearie, Licensing Standards Officer

Attending: Susan Mair, Argyll and Bute Council

Shona Marshall, Argyll and Bute Council Graeme Forrester, Argyll and Bute Council Representative from Alcohol Focus Scotland

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from Calum MacLachlainn, J Russell Buchanan, Martin Donovan, Sheila Johnston, Raymond Boyle and Catherine Dobbie.

2. MINUTES

In the absence of a quorum the Local Licensing Forum (LLF) noted the Minute of the Meeting held on 11 April 2012 and noted that this would go to the next meeting for approval.

3. NOTE OF INQUORATE MEETING OF LOCAL LICENSING FORUM HELD ON 18 JULY 2012

In the absence of a quorum the LLF noted the Note of Inquorate Meeting held on 18 July 2012 and noted that this would go to the next meeting for approval.

The Forum also noted that Cath Cakebread had put her apologies in for this meeting.

The Chair expressed his disappointment at the lack of attendance by Members at recent meetings. Reasons for low turnout were considered, such as timing of meetings; lack of interest on Agenda issues; the role of the LLF and pattern of attendance/non-attendance. It was suggested that changing dates of meetings to avoid particular holidays may improve attendance.

The origin and setup of the LLF was explored, with the composition of the Forum seen as having a balance of views and being representative of a wide variety of interested parties ie community, youth, health, licensed trade all brought together from throughout the Argyll and Bute Council area.

Page 8

The Chair went on to suggest that it would be beneficial to invite the Chair of the new Licensing Board (LB) along to meetings of the LLF. This would help highlight the expertise which existed within the membership of the Forum and provide recognition on how the LLF and LB could work together in re-shaping the new Licensing Policy.

Decision

It was noted that guidance would be sought from the Head of Governance and Law on;

- (i) whether Members who were unable to attend a particular meeting could send a representative in their place; and
- (ii) whether Members who had not attended for a number of meetings be asked if they wished to remain on or resign from the LLF. Any resignations would result in an advertisement campaign seeking interested persons to apply for membership.

4. CHIEF CONSTABLES' REPORTS TO LICENSING BOARDS AND LOCAL LICENSING FORUMS

In the absence of a representative from the Police it was noted that this Item would be carried forward to the next meeting of the Forum.

5. NATIONAL LICENSING CONFERENCE - 12 SEPTEMBER 2012

The Chair informed the Forum that he had attended the National Licensing Conference held in Glasgow on 12 September 2012.

There had been 3 main presentations, these being; "Understanding the quasi-judicial role of Licensing Boards: Perceptions and Misperceptions", "Putting policy into practice: Evidence gathering", and "Policy into practice: Developing an effective overprovision policy".

The presentations had been circulated to Members by email along with informative links to the following topics; Changing Times: Why we need to change licensing practice; Licensing Policy Timeline;, The Licensing Process – Who's involved?; Factsheet1: Using evidence to support policy and decision making; The National Licensing Conference 2012 Programme and the National Licensing Conference 2012 presentations.

A "Statement of licensing policy timeline" was also tabled.

The Chair went on to inform the LLF that Scottish Licensing Law required Licensing Boards (LB) to publish a statement of their licensing policy every three years, setting out how they would seek to promote the five licensing objectives.

New policy statements were due by November 2013 and relevant organisations were being encouraged to provide valuable assistance to their Licensing Board in formulating evidence-based policy.

The Licensing Policy review followed a timeline which laid out a 7 Step process. Steps 3 and 4 had already been reached whereby "The licensing board must consult with the local licensing forum when preparing their statement of licensing policy".

Discussion followed on the function of the LLF in relation to the LB. It was put forward that the LLF existed to interpret government policy on alcohol and licensing and apply local influences and knowledge in an advisory capacity to the LB. There were a range of differing local circumstances throughout the Argyll and Bute area, from urban to rural populations, which could be brought to the attention of the LB by members of the LLF when applying a particular policy or license.

The LLF was of the opinion that it could be effective in providing valuable assistance to the LB when formulating its policy for 2013, and discussion took place on how this could be achieved, which topic(s) could be identified for progressing and methods used to gather and interpret statistics to support particular studies.

Following on from discussion regarding the effects alcohol had on various age groups, Roanna Clark reminded the LLF of their decision at a meeting earlier in the year to support a project in Argyll and Bute similar to that which operated in Poland whereby some of the country's youth projects were funded though taxes on alcohol sales given to the Local Authority. The North Argyll Forum had brought the project to the Scottish Youth Parliament, and following their support it was now going to Government for approval.

S Mair informed the LLF that the next meeting of the LB was due to be held in November 2012 and that the Statement of Licensing Policy would be an item on their Agenda for discussion, taking into account their legal responsibilities and to provide guidance on the way forward. The role of the LLF within the policy making framework could also be discussed.

Members were of the opinion that a small group, representative of the LLF, should meet on an informal basis to actively take forward and progress items for discussion with the LB to potentially help formulate policy for 2013. It was suggested that to progress these discussions, the informal group from the LLF meet representatives from the LB initially and agree what could be attainable and progress matters from there.

Decision

The LLF noted that;

- (i) the following representatives would form the informal small working group;
 - Kenneth Harrison Chair
 - Health to be confirmed
 - Youth Roanna Clark
 - Community Iain MacNaughton
 - Licensed Trade to be confirmed
- (ii) the location and timing of each meeting had yet to be determined and the possibility of meetings being held by video conferencing considered;
- (iii) the Chairman would seek to attend a meeting of the Dunbartonshire LLF.

6. DISCUSS WHETHER A RECOMMENDATION BE MADE TO THE LICENSING BOARD TO REVIEW ITS POLICY IN RELATION TO PROCESSING LICENSES SO THAT THE POLICY ALLOWS FOR CERTAIN SPECIFIC PREMISES TO HAVE EXTENDED OPENING HOURS

Noted that this Item would be carried forward to the next meeting of the Forum for consideration.

7. ITEM FOR DISCUSSION AT THE NEXT MEETING OF THE LOCAL LICENSING FORUM

Noted that Items for discussion would be brought to the next meeting of the Forum following discussion between the informal LLF small working group and the LB.

8. DATE FOR JOINT MEETING OF LICENSING BOARD AND LOCAL LICENSING FORUM

Noted that the joint meeting be arranged to take place on a date after the next meeting of the Licensing Board being held in November 2012.

9. FUTURE MEETING DATES

Noted that following on from discussion which had taken place earlier in the meeting, future meeting dates of the Local Licensing Forum be re-arranged to avoid clashes with Easter, Summer and Winter holidays.

MINUTES of MEETING of ARGYLL AND BUTE LICENSING BOARD AND LOCAL LICENSING FORUM held in the COUNCIL CHAMBER, KILMORY, LOCHGILPHEAD on WEDNESDAY, 19 DECEMBER 2012

Present: Sandy Taylor (Chair)

Kenneth Harrison, Health Representative

Councillor Richard Traill Councillor Fred Hall Councillor Rory Colville Councillor Robin Currie

Stuart Watson, Area Inspector

Heather Murray, Administrator, Strathclyde Police

Calum MacLachlainn, Licensed Trade

Martin Donovan, Licensed Trade

Tim Saul, Licensed Trade

Eric Box, Community Representative Fred Bruce, Community Representative Raymond Boyle, Community Representative David Greenwell (ADT – Health Board) Roanna Clark, Young Scot Co-ordinator

Alana Maclachlan, Young Person Sarah Nicolson, Young Person

Attending: Susan Mair, Legal Manager

Shona Marshall, Committee Services

Graeme Forrester, Solicitor Kate Connelley, Trainee Solicitor

Caroline McArthur, ADP Information Officer

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were intimated on behalf of Mary-Jean Devon. Sheila Johnston, Iain MacNaughton, Cath Cakebread, Catherine Dobbie and Elaine Garman.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (IF ANY)

There were no Declarations of Interest.

3. MINUTES

The Minutes of the Joint Meeting of Argyll and Bute Licensing Board and Argyll and Bute Local Licensing Forum held on 28 September 2011 were approved.

4. REVIEW OF ARGYLL AND BUTE LICENSING BOARD'S LICENSING POLICY STATEMENT

The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting. He considered it an excellent opportunity for members of the Licensing Board (LB) and Local Licensing Forum

Page 12

(LLF) to come together and gain an understanding of each Group's remit with the aim of working together cohesively.

He introduced Kenny Harrison, Chair of the LLF who provided an update about the Forum. He informed those present on its membership and role, and that it existed to provide help and guidance to the LB which could be especially beneficial when formulating policy.

The knowledge and expertise contained within the Forum membership which could provide the LB with valuable guidance and background information relating to health, licensed trade and community issues amongst others. This expertise would especially be of benefit to the LB when reviewing its Licensing Policy for 2013. He saw the LLF as existing to interpret government policy on alcohol and licensing and applying local influences and knowledge in an advisory capacity to the LB.

He referred to documentation produced by West Dunbartonshire LLF which provided a model for joint working arrangements between their Forum and LB and suggested that this may form the basis for similar arrangements for joint working between Argyll and Bute's own LLF and LB. He welcomed the opportunity to meet members of the LB and looked forward to future meetings together.

The Chair thanked Mr Harrison for his update.

He then introduced Susan Mair, Legal Manager, and explained that she acted in a legal capacity for both the LB and the LLF. He went on to invite each person present to introduce themselves, provide a background to their membership of either the LB or LLF and also to outline their views on alcohol and licensing.

Views expressed included;

- the production of whisky in the Argyll and Bute Council area was important to the economy
- minimum pricing would help curb excessive drinking
- the number one public health problem was lack of awareness by the general public as to safe drinking levels
- concern about increase in online purchase of alcohol
- · production of "alcopops" encouraged drinking
- how to change the cultural approach, especially in the West of Scotland, towards drinking
- ensuring that licensed premises uphold rules
- ensuring closer working relationship between the LB and the licensed trade
- more regulation of supermarkets selling alcohol
- monitoring and regulation of events at which alcohol is permitted to be sold;
 and
- concern about the number premises within the Argyll and Bute Council area which are permitted to sell alcohol

It was recognised that there was a spectrum of opinion on licensing issues and that this would lead to valuable discussion at future meetings.

Informal discussion then took place between members of the LB and the LLF including their areas of expertise, granting of licences to licensed premises, the

Page 13

recording of incidents within or close to licensed premises, license fees and the role of the Licensing Standards Officer.

Decision

The Joint Group agreed that;

- (i) an email from Caroline McArthur, ADP Information, Research & Performance Officer be circulated to the Group asking them to provide feedback on the Argyll and Bute Alcohol and Drugs Partnership (ADP) Strategy for 2013-2016;
- (ii) to place an Item on the next Licensing Board Agenda from Roanna Clark, Young Scot Co-ordinator seeking support for a project taking place in Argyll and Bute which had gained approval at the Scottish Youth Parliament. The project was similar to that which operated in Poland whereby some of the country's youth projects were funded though taxes on alcohol sales given to the Local Authority;
- (iii) statistics collated by the Police on alcohol related incidents be brought to future meetings of the Licensing Board;
- (iv) the level of fees for premises selling alcohol be discussed at a future meeting of the Licensing Board;
- (v) consideration be given by the Licensing Board to writing to the Scottish Government about method of recording alcohol related incidents taking place on licensed premises;
- (vi) to inform and consult the Local Licensing Forum on any substantive issues when reviewing the 2013 Licensing Policy; and
- (vii) to arrange future joint meetings of the Licensing Board and Local Licensing Forum.

The Chair thanked the Group for an informative meeting and that it paved the way towards joint working.

This page is intentionally left blank

Date: 31 May 2012

Your Ref:

Our Ref:

Kilmory DX 599700

LOCHGILPHEAD

L300

Argyll & Bute Licensing Forum

Agenda Item 4
STRATHCLYDE
POLICE

CHIEF CONSTABLE Stephen House QPM

'L' Division Headquarters Stirling Road DUMBARTON G82 3PT

Tel: 01389 822000

Fax: 01389 822030

Dear Sir

LICENSING (SCOTLAND) ACT 2005, SECTION 12A: CHIEF CONSTABLES' REPORTS TO LICENSING BOARDS AND LOCAL LICENSING FORUMS

I refer to the above legislation, which provides that the Chief Constable should send a report to the Local Licensing Forum at the end of the financial year that sets out the following information.

- His views about matters relating to policing in the Licensing Board's area during that year and the following year, in connection with the operation of the Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005; and
- any steps taken during the year, or intended to be taken in the following year, to prevent the sale or supply of alcohol to children or young people in the Board's area.

I am pleased to enclose the Chief Constable's report for the year April 2011 to March 2012 for the information of the Forum. I would be happy to arrange for an officer to attend a meeting of the Forum to discuss the report should the Forum wish.

I trust that this is helpful.

Yours faithfully

Chief Superintendent Divisional Commander

CHIEF CONSTABLE'S REPORT TO ARGYLL & BUTE LICENSING BOARD FOR THE PERIOD 01/04/2011 – 31/03/2012

INTRODUCTION

This report has been produced for the information of Argyll & Bute Licensing Board and Argyll & Bute Licensing Forum in accordance with Section 12A of the Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005.

The report relates to police performance and activities undertaken in the financial year April 2011 to March 2012 and is in two distinct parts:

Part 1: contains the Chief Constable's views about matters relating to policing in connection with the operation of the Act in the Board's area during the reporting year. It also looks forward and identifies areas he intends to address or focus on in the coming year.

Part 2: highlights the steps that officers have taken, or intend to take, to prevent the sale or supply of alcohol to children or young people in the Board's area.

Argyll & Bute is a beautiful sparsely populated area covering approximately 10% of Scotland while housing only 92,000 people.

The area relies a great deal on tourism to support the local economy. Licensed premises contribute greatly to the tourist industry and as such it becomes vital that these premises are policed positively and proactively in line with the Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005 and the Licensing Objectives.

BOARD AREA - POLICING RESPONSIBILITY

Argyll & Bute is policed by Strathclyde Police 'L' Division with the Divisional Headquarters based at Dumbarton police office, Stirling Road, Dumbarton G82 3PT. The Divisional Commander Superintendent Russell Dunn has overall responsibility for licensing issues within the division.

Due to the geographical expanse of Argyll & Bute the area is split from a policing perspective into three geographical areas Oban, Kintyre and Cowal and Bute. Each of these areas has a designated Chief Inspector that has local control of licensing issues in their area. The area Chief Inspector further delegates licensing issues to one of the area Inspectors. The area Inspectors link in with the Divisional Licensing Departments based at Lochgilphead and Dumbarton regarding licensing issues.

Page 17

PART 1: OPERATION OF THE LICENSING (SCOTLAND) ACT 2005

Introduction

Area Inspectors and local officers regularly attend licensed premises for routine inspections in relation to compliance with the Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005.

Each day the area Inspector also reviews all police incidents relating to licensed premises in their areas.

Following this review and discussion at the sub-divisional morning meeting the area Inspector or their designated sergeant attends at the premises. There he reviews the incident in line with the premises behaviour in line with the Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005, Licensing Objectives. This review takes the form of a general discussion regarding the operation of the premises in line with the Licensing Objectives. Where the premises is found to fall short of these Objectives the attending officer will commence a Police Intervention highlighting the premises shortfalls in line with the Licensing Objectives. At this time the officer gives the premises recommendations in line with these objectives and a period of time to comply. At the end of the period of time allocated the area Inspector reviews the premises efforts to comply with these recommendations and uses this to decide whether the premises have made suitable effort to comply with the Licensing Objectives. Where a premises have been found to fail to reach what the police believe to be an acceptable standard the premises will be reported to the Licensing Board requesting a Licence Review.

a). Summary of policing in connection with the operation of the Act in the Board's area during the reporting year:

Table 1: Premises and personal licences

Applications for Reviews of Licence	es	Total
Premises Licences (Section 36)	Off-sale only (shop	0
	premises):	
	On-sale (all others):	2
Personal Licences (Section 84A)	Off-sale only (shop	0
	premises):	
	On-sale (all others):	0
Interventions		
Total number of Intervention		
Meetings carried out:		
Stage 1: Discussion		24
Stage 2: Intervention Meeting		8
Stage 3: Pre-review Warning		1

Page 18

Off-sale only (shop premises):	
Stage 1: Discussion	0
Stage 2: Intervention Meeting	0
Stage 3: Pre-review Warning	0
On-sale (all others):	
Stage 1: Discussion	24
Stage 2: Intervention Meeting	8
Stage 3: Pre-review Warning	1

Working in Partnership:

Table 2: Initiatives with Partners

Activity Details

- a) Strathclyde police are working closely with Argyll & Bute Licensing Standards Officers (LSO) to assist with licensing issues. Where a premise has been identified for a police Intervention the LSO works closely with the police and other agencies to rectify the noted problem in an attempt to prevent this leading to a licence review.
- b) Where a local Pub Watch is in operation a designated local police officer attends these meeting in support of the group. These Pub Watches have a positive impact on the safety of both patrons of the premises and staff as well as the potential to enjoy a trouble free evening on licensed premises.
- c) Following a 'glassing' incident in the Dunoon area of Argyll & Bute the police Licensing Department in conjunction with A&B LSO attended at a number of identified premises in possession of the 'Polariscope' glass testing machine. All identified premises were advised at this time regarding the suitability of the glasses they were using and the safest way forward.

Training and Development (Internal):

Table 3: Training and Development Carried Out

Training details

'L' Division Licensing personnel have attended various Licensing seminars while keeping themselves abreast of any changes in Licensing legislation.

All identified area licensing officers are regularly updated with changes in Licensing legislation.

A section of Divisional Training now requires probationer constables to attend the Licensing Department for a days input from Licensing personnel.

All relevant changes in Licensing legislation are devolved to Divisional staff to assist in the front line use of this by patrol officers.

National Policing Activity:

Table 4: National Policing Activity

a)

National Policing Activity

'L' Division have over the period of this report participated in National Policing Activity in relation to various Initiatives related to Drink Driving Campaigns, working with UK Borders Agency and tackling Serious and Organised Crime Groups. Although figures are not available in relation to these Initiatives these operations must always looked upon as disruptive to these forms of criminality.

b) Particular views about matters relating to policing in connection with the operation of the Act in the Board's area during the reporting year:

'L' Division has carried out a pro-active year in relation to the Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005 and the Licensing Objectives. Police officers have carried out numerous visits to licensed premises to create a positive link between staff on licensed premises and the police.

Our Licensing department has monitored all incidents related to licensed premises and where necessary raised a police Intervention to improve the running of the premises. On occasion the police have been required to report certain premises to Argyll & Bute Licensing Board for failure to conform to the Licensing Objectives.

- c) Looking ahead (2012-2013) Particular views about matters relating to policing in connection with the operation of the Act in the Board's area for the coming year and any areas identified for development.
- 'L' Division will continue to visit all licensed premises at various times but will now include a new format for licensed premises 'Inspections. These Inspections will assist the police in tackling failure to conform to the Licensing Objectives while offering further support to the premises.

Divisional enquiry has revealed an issue with regard to alcohol sales outside licensing hours. This will be strictly policed and where premises are identified to be selling alcohol outside their permitted hours they will be reported both to the local Procurator Fiscal and to the Licensing Board for a review of their Licence.

Oban Chief Inspector Brian Auld has identified the need in the area for an organised Pub Watch to assist in the safe management of local licensed premises. This will be set up and organised in collaboration between the Divisional Licensing sergeant, area staff and local licence holders.

PART 2: PREVENTING THE SALE OR SUPPLY OF ALCOHOL TO CHILDREN OR YOUNG PEOPLE

Introduction

The police are aware that children and young persons can be the most vulnerable groups in our society. The Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005 specifically covers under its Licensing Objectives 'Protecting children from harm'.

In relation to these concerns 'L' Division has been proactive in policing premises in relation to the underage sale of alcohol to children and young persons. Local officers make regular visits to licensed premises to deter and detect the sale or supply of alcohol to children or young persons.

a) Activity carried out to prevent the sale or supply of alcohol to children

Table 5: Offences relating to children and young persons

Total number of persons charged under sections 102 to 109 of the Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005	3
Designated Premises Managers/Personal Licence Holders	0
No Personal Licence Holders	0

b) Proposed activity to be carried out to prevent the sale or supply of alcohol to children during next reporting period:

We will continue to proactively attend premises in relation to the potential for the sale of alcohol to children and young persons. This will now involve the Strathclyde police licensed premises Inspection where required.

Page 21

Where an area is known for alcohol related youth problems and there is information that the alcohol is being purchased locally we will consider the use of an organised Test Purchase Operation targeting licensed premises in these areas. We will continue to work with our partner agencies in identifying these areas where we will proactively prevent and detect offenders.

CONCLUSION

'L' Division police officers covering the Argyll & Bute area have shown a positive approach to the Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005 throughout this year. They have shown support to the licensed trade while implementing the requirements of the Act and detecting offences.

This good work will be continued with officers intending to work closely with licensed premises in achieving the Licensing Objectives and supporting the local community.

Yours faithfully

Chief Superintendent

This page is intentionally left blank

Argyll & Bute Alcohol and Drug Partnership Strategy 2013-2016



Page 24

Table of Contents

Vision	3
Aim	
Introduction	4
Argyll and Bute Context	5
Strategy Development	
Our Priorities	7
Priority One: Maximised Health in Argyll & Bute	
Key Actions	11
Priority Two: Integrated Care Pathways	12
Key Actions	14
Priority Three: Protection from Harm	15
Key Actions	17
Priority Four: Children and Young People	18
Key Actions	19
Conclusion	20
Appendix 1: Core ADP Outcomes	21
References	22

Vision

The Argyll and Bute Alcohol and Drug Partnership's vision is to work in partnership to prevent and support recovery from the harmful use of alcohol and drugs.

Aim

The Argyll and Bute Alcohol and Drug Partnership (ADP) aims to:

- Maintain a clear partnership approach, with trust and honesty among all partners
- Develop and implement an alcohol and drugs strategy based on the analysis of local needs and circumstances
- Ensure services in Argyll & Bute are commissioned in line with this strategy in an open and transparent way
- Monitor the progress of the strategy through an agreed performance outcomes and frameworks
- Ensure that the budget is aligned to the strategic direction of the ADP
- Ensure the strategy is in line with national policy balanced with local need and evidence of effectiveness.
- Engage with service users and practitioners in reviewing the effectiveness of this strategy and developing the next stages of our strategic development.

Introduction

The problematic use of substances, both legal and illegal, is a major concern in Scotland. While the majority of residents in Argyll & Bute do not misuse drugs and consume alcohol responsibly, significant proportions have a problematic relationship with these substances, especially alcohol, causing harm to themselves and others. Due to the level of impact nationally, the Scottish Government has stated that alcohol misuse as the biggest public health challenge that the nation facesⁱ.

In March 2009, the Scottish Government published *Changing Scotland's Relationship with Alcohol: A Framework for Action.* The 'Framework' addresses issues around reducing alcohol consumption, tackling the damaging impact alcohol misuse has on our families and communities, encouraging positive attitudes and positive choices and improving the support and treatment available to tackle problem alcohol use. The *Framework for Action* recognised that alcohol misuse is much more prevalent across Scottish society than previously recognised. As a result the Framework adopts a whole population approach, as well as recognising that some vulnerable groups require a more targeted approach.

The drugs strategy, *The Road to Recovery*, was published in May 2008. This sets out a significant programme of reform to tackle Scotland's drug problem. Central to the strategy is the concept of recovery - a process through which individuals are enabled to move on from their problem drug use towards a drug-free life and become active and contributing members of society. The drugs strategy and the alcohol Framework both signalled the need to ensure that local delivery of alcohol and drugs services was effective, efficient, accountable and able to contribute to national and local outcomes.

In January 2008, the Scottish Government established a Delivery Reform Group with the remit of recommending improvements to the then existing Alcohol and Drug Action Teams (ADAT). In 2009, they published *The National Framework for Alcohol and Drugs Partnerships* (ADPs) which sets out the new arrangements for the strategic governance of alcohol and drugs services across Scotland. This framework provides an emphasis on securing accountability across the wide range of agencies involved in tackling alcohol and drugs issues at a Local Authority level. In particular, there is a focus on ensuring participation from partner agencies at a strategic level to ensure there is commitment to taking forward the strategic direction of the development of alcohol and drug related services. The ADP was to be embedded into the local Community Planning structures.

The Argyll & Bute Alcohol and Drug Partnership (A&B ADP) is co-terminus with Argyll & Bute Council, although some strategic partners cover a wider geographical spread that may impact on the decisions taken at the Argyll & Bute ADP, for example Strathclyde Police (National Police Servie from April 2013).

Argyll and Bute Context

Argyll & Bute is one of the 32 unitary council areas of Scotland and is the second largest geographical council area. Argyll & Bute covers 6,909 km² (2668 square miles) of the west coast and borders West Dunbartonshire to the east, Stirling to the north-east and Highland to the north. The 2011 midyear estimated population was 89,950. The Scottish Government Urban-Rural Classification 2009-10 places 52% of the population in 'rural' areas and 45% of these are in 'remote rural' locations. Almost 80% of people live within 1km of the coast and 96% within 10km. Argyll & Bute has 25 inhabited islands, with 17% of the total population living on an island. I

Strategy Development

The Argyll & Bute ADP Strategy has been developed with support from two key pieces of work; the Needs Analysis undertaken during 2011 and a Development Day held in May 2012 with all ADP partners.

In 2011, the Argyll & Bute ADP commissioned Professor Neil McKeganey to undertake a needs assessment. The aim of the needs analysis was to collate and examine information and planning in relation to substance misuse services; assess inputs, outputs and reach of each service and identify differences and gaps in services and coverage; evaluate impact against the agreed objectives of each service; and provide an evidence base of information to identify key outcomes for drug and alcohol services in Argyll & Bute. The needs analysis was published in January 2012ⁱⁱⁱ.

The quantitative data in the needs analysis highlighted a lack of national prevalence data in problem alcohol use. However, there has been an increase in alcohol related mortality amongst men and women in Argyll & Bute in the last ten years, with Argyll & Bute council area ranked 16th worst out of 32 council areas in Scotland in 2009/10 for general acute hospital and day case discharge for alcohol related diagnosis, with 2.1% of the total Scottish discharges in this time period.

In 2011, the latest prevalence figures for problem drug use in Scotland estimated that there were 770 problem drug users in Argyll & Bute which was a 40% increase from 2006. Argyll & Bute was therefore placed 23rd out of 32 council areas in terms of the overall prevalence with first place having the highest prevalence.

Statistics on the use of alcohol amongst young people in Argyll & Bute show that there is a higher than average experimentation and use of alcohol than the rest of Scotland. The average for 13 year olds in Argyll & Bute who consumed a whole alcoholic drink was 51% compared to the Scottish average of 44% and for 15 year olds it was 84% compared to the Scottish average of 77%.

These findings have been correlated by local research looking at drinking by young people in three schools in Argyll & Bute. The research found that 94% of the 215 respondents had consumed alcohol on at least one occasion, and 20% had consumed alcohol before the age of ten. It also highlighted that boys drank more than girls, but girls binge drink more than boys. The average number of units the respondents consumed in each session was 11 units of alcohol which is more than 1.75 times the UK average and more than 2.5 times the European average.^{iv}

There is currently a lack of quantitative data at a localised level across Argyll & Bute that allows the differences within the council area to be identified. There is also a lack of data to provide trends and patterns across the council area, as well as nationally. This information gap will need to be addressed as a priority to ensure the performance monitoring of the Strategy at both local and council areas.

The needs analysis also undertook qualitative research amongst partners, service providers and service users within Argyll & Bute. Service users reported positive feedback on the service provision for both statutory and third sector services, but reported gaps in provision across and between the geographical areas within Argyll & Bute, for example provision of advice on injecting safely and lack of onward referral to other services to receive additional advice. Service providers all highlighted their client centred ethos and were supportive of greater integration with other services. However, there was little evidence to the researcher of structured service plans to ensure integration of services but there was feedback on the need for better working relationships between agencies. The strategic partnership working was seen as often tense especially between the statutory and third sector partners, and there was a criticism of the lack of open and transparent working.

The Strategy Development Day welcomed representatives from partner organisations from across Argyll & Bute. The day was focused on "where we want to be in 2015" and looked at the priorities for actions, strengths and challenges for the ADP. The Development Day also looked in more depth at the recommendations from the Needs Analysis.

The partners who attended the Development Day requested that the Strategy would require actions on statistical information, service mapping, and clarity on the partnership working. These issues are identified in the Strategy outlined below

Our Priorities

The Argyll & Bute Alcohol and Drug Partnership (ADP) priorities for 2013-2016 are:

- Health in Argyll & Bute is maximised and communities feel engaged and empowered to make healthier choices regarding alcohol and drugs
- Effective integrated care pathway is established, offering a flexible range of services from assessment to recovery is in place in Argyll & Bute
- Individuals, families and communities in Argyll & Bute are protected against substance misuse harm
- Children affected by parental substance misuse are protected and build resilience through the joint working of adult and children's services in Argyll & Bute

These priorities form part of the outcomes framework for Argyll and Bute ADP shown below in Figure 1. They form part of the delivery outcomes that will underpin the seven core outcomes for Alcohol and Drug Partnerships set by the Scottish Government that are shown in the middle of the triangle and listed separately in Appendix 1, and contribute towards the delivery of the high level Scottish Government outcomes to create a more successful country, with opportunities for all of Scotland to flourish, through increasing sustainable economic growth^v.

Figure 1: Argyll & Bute ADP Outcomes Framework



Attitudes and behaviours towards alcohol and other drugs are changed and those in need are supported by better prevention and treatment services Nat O - 4, 5, 9

Contribute to: -

- S People across Argyll & Bute have access to the services they need Nat O-1, 3, 7, 8, 10, 13
- § Healthy life expectancy is improved especially for the most disadvantaged Nat O -: 6, 7
- S People are, and feel, safe from crime, disorder and danger Nat O 8, 9, 13
- The impact of poverty and disadvantage is reduced Nat O -2, 4, 7

NATIONAL OUTCOMES SOA OUTCOMES



HIGH LEVEL OUTCOMES

- A. People are healthier and experience fewer risks as a result of alcohol and drug use
- B. Fewer adults and children are drinking or using drugs at levels or patterns that are damaging to themselves or others
- C. Individuals are improving their health, well-being and life chances by recovering from problematic drug and alcohol use
- D. Children and family members of people misusing alcohol and drugs are safe, well-supported and have improved life chances
- E. Communities and individuals are safe from alcohol and drug related offending and anti-social behaviour
- F. People live in positive, health promoting local environments where alcohol and drugs are less readily available
- G. Alcohol and drugs services are high quality, continually improving, efficient, evidence based and responsive, ensuring people move through treatment into sustained recovery



DELIVERY OUTCOMES

1. Health in Argyll & Bute is maximised and communities feel engaged and empowered to make healthier choices regarding alcohol and drugs

(A, B, F)

2. Effective integrated care pathway offering a flexible range of services from assessment to recovery is in place in Argyll & Bute

(B, C, G)

3. Individuals, families and communities in Argyll & Bute are protected against substance misuse harm

(A, B, D, E, F)

4. Children affected by parental substance misuse are protected and build resilience through the joint working of adult and children's services in Argyll & Bute (B, D)

Priority One: Maximised Health in Argyll & Bute

Maximising health for residents of Argyll & Bute is a complex process that will require a number of different, inter-related strands to ensure individuals and communities have accessible information, knowledge and skills to make positive choices on their health. Preventing the problematic use of alcohol and drugs is more cost effective and desirable than treating established problems.

These strands include prevention strategies including awareness raising, education and community engagement; embedding screening and information on alcohol and drugs in primary care services, other health services and social setting, and engagement with the Licensing Board in regard to overprovision, temporary licenses and the geographical distribution of licensed premises.

Whole population approaches to reduce alcohol related harm were included in the Scottish Government's Alcohol Bill which had legislative measures including regulation of price, restrictions on promotions and availability, and public awareness campaigns. This was part of the Scottish Government's programme developed through the *Changing Scotland's Relationship with Alcohol* framework document which seeks to promote a cultural change to the nation's relationship with alcohol.

The Needs Analysis identified that alcohol related mortality for Argyll & Bute had increased in the last ten years and that young people in Argyll & Bute were drinking above the average for Scotland. Therefore, there needs to be a focus on everyone's behaviours in Argyll & Bute, as most alcohol related harm does not come from those with severe alcohol dependency problems. While binge drinking can cause acute harm and antisocial behaviours that affect the community, the most harm is caused by those who consume above average levels of alcohol over long periods of time that is detrimental to long-term health. Developing a low alcohol consumption culture and reduced acceptability of drunkenness across the entire population will reduce the level of harm in our communities.

The Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005 offers opportunities for greater engagement with Licensing Boards and Forums at a local level. The ADP and partners need to maximise these opportunities to provide evidence and expertise to the Licensing Board to ensure the Polices and Overprovision Statements in Argyll & Bute can impact on the availability and accessibility of alcohol locally.

The terms drug use, dependence and addiction are not interchangeable. It is not always possible to predict who might misjudge the balance between risk and benefit of using drugs and lead to dependency, addiction and problematic drug use which can increase negative long-term health, criminal justice or social consequences. Therefore the provision of trusted and credible

information to help people make informed choices about drug use is relevant to all citizens, not just problematic drug users.

Prevention use a wide range of different evidence based methods for both targeted interventions and whole population approaches. The aims are multiple and include the reduction of initiation to risky behaviours including drug and alcohol use; reduce the number of people at risk of moving to problematic use of drugs and/or alcohol; improving community attitudes and values to drugs and/or alcohol; increasing individual and community resilience; improving the wellbeing of vulnerable populations; and reducing the harm caused by drugs and alcohol to the individual and communities. All these different elements need to be developed further into a comprehensive prevention plan that looks at all aspects. This will be supported by the models being developed by NHS Health Scotland.

The ADP needs to engage with the different services involved in education from nursery schools through to secondary and youth services to develop appropriate curriculum, in terms of both content and delivery methods, to develop knowledge and skills for positive choices on alcohol and drugs. Schools currently provide knowledge and skills on alcohol and drugs within their curriculum. The proposed curriculum development will need build on current work in schools, evaluating its effectiveness and identifying gaps. It should be developed in partnership with teachers, students and parents/carers to ensure a holistic delivery increasing knowledge sharing within families and communities. Youth Services will also need to be a key partner in working with young people outside the educational framework.

There is existing and emerging evidence of the need for and value of joined up working in areas of health including the impact of inequalities and supporting those most vulnerable in society. The ADP needs to ensure that cross agenda working at both practice and policy levels are in place to address a number of different issues, for example the Sexual Health and Blood Borne Virus Framework.

The ADP will also have to widen its engagement with the wider community within Argyll & Bute. There are many means of accessing different groups within the community, for example carers' groups, older people's forums, health and wellbeing networks, and parent and toddler groups. The ADP needs to develop different ways of support information sharing and capacity building within these community groups to build resilience, knowledge and skills within the wider community.

The ADP will continue to work with primary care services to support staff in delivery of high quality screening and information on alcohol and drugs within their practices. The Scottish Government's HEAT targets on alcohol brief intervention (ABI) have increased screening and interventions to reduce alcohol consumption within the general population. We need to continue to work with all GP practices to increase the delivery of the ABI programme within Argyll & Bute and to build on the trusted relationship developed by primary care staff with patients to support the concept of "every contact"

counts" whole population approach to information and support on alcohol and drugs. Also there is a need to develop further links with other NHS and other health settings, to embed every contact counts into the wider health workforce and further develop the ABI programme into wider, evidence-based settings.

Key Actions

- Build strong partnership with Licensing Forum and Licensing Board members to ensure expertise of ADP partners is used to support decision making on licensing policies and applications
- Develop local evidence to support the development of Licensing Board policies and overprovision statements
- Develop a prevention action plan for Argyll & Bute that ensures evidence based best practice is used
- Develop educational curriculum for use in all schools in Argyll & Bute that builds on evidence based best practice
- Continue to engage with primary care and other health settings to make every contact count in relation to ABIs and the provision of trusted information on drugs and alcohol
- Build and develop strong local networks through which alcohol and drugs information can be disseminated to the wider community

Priority Two: Integrated Care Pathways

The Needs Analysis highlighted the lack of structured service plans for integration and the need to provide greater integration between services. Therefore, the ADP needs to bring together partners to develop integrated care services within Argyll & Bute that recognises that people who have problematic drug and alcohol use also have a range of other difficulties in their lives. Therefore a range of treatment, care and support services will be needed to help individuals move along a recovery journey and to improve their relationships with their family, friends and the wider community.

Recovery is a deeply personal, unique and voluntary journey of change to regain control and move towards a stable and fulfilling life free from addiction. It can be considered to be constructed upon four founding principles: a sense of hope, a sense of purpose, a positive identity and a feeling of belonging. Recovery journeys differ between people and can occur at different times in a person's life. Therefore, services need to provide person-centred care that combines medical, psycho-social interventions and integrates across different organisations to focus on shared outcomes.

The ADP needs to develop a coherent recovery journey that is flexible to respond to individual needs but outlines the range of service involved in supporting recovery journeys and provides integration across organisations to ensure seamless support. This will enable people who are ready to start their recovery journey to be supported across the many different areas of their lives, for example housing to mental health, detoxification to money management. There needs to be clear referral pathways for services to understand how to access the different elements of the journey.

The ADP will need to lead the re-orientation of services to become outcomes focused with an overarching Recovery Oriented System of Care with clear routes into, through and out of the system as people progress with their recovery. There is a need to ensure treatment services are reaching all thoe who need support, working to reach those at risk of unplanned admission to hospital, working with criminal justice to ensure those in need are treated and develop alternative ways of engaging those with problematic use of drugs and/or alcohol who are unlikely to access traditional services. Services need to meet the needs of people, however challenging they may be.

Services need to be developed in line with the Scottish Ministerial Advisory Committee on Alcohol Problems (SMACAP) Essential Services Working Group: Quality Alcohol Treatment and Support (QATS)^{vi} stepped care approach embedding the Healthcare Quality Ambitions. Service provision must also ensure that the Health improvement, Efficiency, Access to services and Treatment (HEAT) target A11 Drug and Alcohol Treatment Waiting Times. The Scottish Government has set the A11 target so that by March 2013, specialist drug and alcohol services (tier 3 and 4) in all ADP areas will have 90% of their clients will wait no longer than three weeks from referral to treatment.^{vii}

As addiction and problematic use does not just affect the individual but also their families, it is important that families have a role in the recovery journey. There is a need to develop opportunities for couples, families and carers to be both involved in and received support along the recovery journey.

To support the Argyll & Bute recovery journey, clear information sharing protocols between agencies and organisations are needed. Those that are already in place, will need to be updated to ensure a seamless sharing of information, and the use of the Shared Single Assessment should be embedded, so that service users do not need to repeat standard information required to support their journey.

There is also a requirement to ensure data is used to underpin service delivery, service quality, support best practice development and ensure that outcomes are the focus. The ADP needs to ensure that the service models and delivery within Argyll & Bute is the best that can be delivered. Therefore, tools such as benchmarking and comparing ourselves with statistical neighbours are important to ensure that we are delivering the best for our service users and their families.

Services also need to exist within a wider recovery community where peer support and mutual aid is readily available and accessible. The ADP needs to support the development of service user groups in each locality independent of all services that can ensure a clear service user voice in design, delivery and focus of local services, and provide peer support and mutual aid. These service user groups should reflect the different geographical locations but not services, and should be independent. They should be supported by the ADP but run by and for service users, not services, and to develop capacity and capability to be independent.

The ADP will also need to ensure that workforce development is in place across Argyll & Bute to develop high quality, skilled staff to support the recovery journey. This is especially important in Argyll & Bute to ensure that there is equity of service across the geographical diversity. Current skills need to be mapped and a plan to develop the workforce can then be developed.

Key Actions

- Develop a recovery journey that integrates different services into a coherent pathway for service users with clear referral pathways
- Ensure a holistic approach is taken to the journey to engage partners with wider services such as employment, money management agencies, etc.
- Embed Healthcare Quality Ambitions into service provision
- Establish or update Information Sharing Protocols between agencies to create seamless movement between services for service users
- Achievement and maintenance of HEAT A11 drug and alcohol waiting time target
- Develop family support networks
- Develop clear data to allow benchmarking and comparison with other statistically similar drug and alcohol services
- Develop geographically focused, independent service user groups
- Undertake skills audit to develop a workforce development plan

Priority Three: Protection from Harm

Problematic substance use can adversely affect those who misuse alcohol and other drugs as well as their family, children and the broader community in which they live. Alcohol is a particular contributory factor to a wide range of social problems. Until such time that those with problematic drug and alcohol use start on their recovery journey, harm reduction strategies, early intervention and effective public protection arrangements are required to keep them, their children, families and communities safe and ensure the best outcomes for the future.

According to the Scottish Prisoner Survey 2011, half of those who completed a questionnaire (50%) reported being drunk and under half (44%) reported being under the influence of drugs at the time of their offence; a quarter (25%) reported that drinking affected their ability to hold down a job and over one third of prisoners (38%) admitted that their drinking affected their relationship with their family. The survey also found that 20% of prisoners reported that they had used drugs in the month prior to the survey while in prison and 18% reported that they had committed their offence to get money for drugs. One quarter (23%) were receiving treatment for drug use before they were imprisoned and 39% stated that their drug use was a problem for them on the outside viii.

The Scottish Crime and Justice Survey 2010/11 reported that victims perceived the offender to have been under the influence of alcohol in 63% of violent crime and to have taken drugs in 34% of violent crime.

The ADP needs to work with criminal justice services through the Criminal Justice Partnership and the Criminal Justice Authority (CJA) to embed support and recovery in all phases of work, from arrest, custody suites, through the sentencing and aftercare. Closer working with the police is required to support people in custody to access specialist services while in custody locally. There also needs to be more interaction with the court systems to provide expertise and evidence for the use of Community Payback Orders (CPOs) rather than custodial sentences and to ensure that the treatment requirements for those with drug and alcohol problems are included to help individuals address the areas of their lives that require change. The ADP also needs to link with the Scottish Prison Service to provide adequate throughcare and aftercare for liberated prisoners when they return to Argyll & Bute.

The ADP needs to work with Trading Standards and the Police to ensure that existing alcohol laws are enforced in particular selling alcohol to drunken people, underage sales and adults purchasing alcohol for young people. The Challenge 25 scheme is place in many establishments across Scotland, the ADP needs to work with licensees to ensure this is enforced and support them in safely selling alcohol in the community.

While alcohol and drugs do not excuse domestic abuse, where these are involved the risks to women and children are greater. These risks include

increased severity of abuse by perpetrators and increased dependency on substances as a coping mechanism by victims. The ADP needs to ensure a more coordinated approach is taken within Argyll & Bute to ensure a consistent response to victims and perpetrators of domestic abuse when substance use is an issue.

The integration of social workers into the Argyll & Bute Addictions Team (ABAT) has provided specialist addiction social workers to support social services child and adult protection process where substance misuse is involved. The ADP needs to develop stronger links with the Violence Against Women Partnership and other agencies working to reduce domestic abuse and ensure that the expertise of specialist drug and alcohol services are linked into the provision of support.

Protection from harm is not just about crime and criminal justice. Harm reduction strategies need to be embedded into service provision – for example access to needle exchange programmes to reduce risk from shared needles and enhance the service where evidence highlights the need; bloodborne virus testing and vaccination programmes need to continue to work to increase the level of uptake of testing and treatment; and substitute prescribing services to support services users to stabilise their lives.

Drug related deaths in Scotland are increasing, and opiates are implicated in or potentially responsible for 35% of these deathsix. The ADP needs to continue to implement a systematic in-depth investigation for every drug-related death in Argyll & Bute.

Naloxone is a prescriptive drug that temporarily reverses the effects of opiate overdose. The Naloxone programme seeks to provide Naloxone kits to opiate users to be used in the event of an overdose. The ADP needs to develop a comprehensive Naloxone programme to embed Naloxone training to opiate users, family members, and key staff.

Key Actions

- Work in partnership with Criminal Justice to develop strong links between specialist services and criminal justice agencies from arrest to throughcare.
- Build relationship with Trading Standards to support work on enforcing alcohol laws
- Develop links to licensees to support enforcement of alcohol laws
- Develop strong partnership with the Violence Against Women Partnership to provide specialist expertise to support their work with victims of domestic abuse
- Build on current harm reduction work and extend where required programmes such as needle exchange and blood-borne virus testing and treatment
- Develop Naloxone programme to train service users, family, friends and staff and roll out delivery to ensure those at risk of opiate overdose have access to Naloxone

Priority Four: Children and Young People

Children who live with parents who have alcohol or drug problems are among the most vulnerable in society. Problematic substance use can cause serious disruption to family life and has a major impact on health and wellbeing.

These children are entitled to help, support and protection, within their own families wherever possible. Sometimes they will need agencies to take prompt action to secure their safety. Parents too will need strong support to tackle and overcome their problems and promote their children's full potential. The welfare of the children need to be paramount and agencies need to assess the needs of children of substance misusing parents, and provide services to safeguard their welfare^x. *Getting Our Priorities Right* (GOPR) provides guidance to support this work and needs to underpin work with children affected by parental substance misuse.

The Scottish Government has set out a clear strategy for children, including those in families affected by substance misuse, in the *Getting It Right For Every Child* (GIRFEC). GIRFEC is focused on ensuring that irrespective of where they live or what their needs are, children, young people and families should know what support is available to them and that the services providing that support put the needs of the child, young person or family at the centre. It promotes a shared approach and responsibility across agencies to build solutions with and around children, young people and families, to enable children and young people to get the help they need when they need it, to support a positive shift in culture, systems and practice, and to work together to improve life chance for children, young people and families^{xi}.

Parents are the single most important factor in a child's wellbeing and it is critical that services increase the capacity for parents to provide wellbeing. Working in partnership, specialist services need to ensure that GIRFEC guidelines are embedded in the Single Shared Assessment and where appropriate joint working is quickly established to support the family during the recovery journey.

Children Affected by Parent Substance Misuse (CAPSM) is an important area of work, current national estimates for children affected by parental drug misuse are 40-60,000. Of these, 10-20,000, are estimated as living with at least one affected parent. We also estimate that around 65,000 children may be affected by parental alcohol misuse^{xii}. However, local data is patchy in Argyll & Bute to accurately identify the local need; data from child protection where substance misuse is a factor provides some information but does not give the full picture.

The ADP needs to ensure that strong relationships are in place with Children and Families Services and that specialist services are involved in child protection case conferences. Closer working with the Child Protection

Committee (CPC) will ensure that the cross cutting issues relating to the impact of alcohol and drug misuse for children are shared. The *National Guidance for Child Protection in Scotland*^{xiii} recommends that collaboration between the ADP and the CPC is at both operational and strategic levels. The ADP needs to work closer with the CPC to ensure these links are embedded into services within Argyll & Bute.

Young people in Argyll & Bute are drinking at levels higher than the Scottish average. Therefore it is important that young people are engaged early to build resilience and skills for positive choices. Diversionary projects are a valuable means of both helping young people breaking the cycle of problematic behaviour and supporting them to change the direction of their lives and futures.

Some young people face increased risks of developing problems with drugs or alcohol, for example looked after children, young offenders and those with parents who misuse drugs or alcohol. These groups will require targeted support. A collaborative approach from all organisations working with young people, strong relationships to share best practice and referrals to other services need to be developed to provide holistic support for their needs.

Key Actions

- Ensure that parents are identified during assessment by drug and alcohol services to embed GIRFEC guidelines in the Single Shared Assessment
- Develop local data on children affected by substance misuse
- Build strong links between the ADP and Children and Families Services to ensure shared policy and procedures for child protection
- Further research young people's drinking patterns in Argyll & Bute to understand the reasons for the high level of alcohol consumption locally
- Further develop diversionary activities to support alternatives to substance use and to build capacity and resilience in young people
- Continue to work with vulnerable at risk groups of young people to support their needs and aspirations

Conclusion

The Argyll & Bute ADP Strategy is the first step in the direction of travel for the ADP in the next three year to further develop its role as a strategic commissioner with open and transparent working practices. It also highlights a great deal of work required by the partnership to deliver on the Vision "to work in partnership to prevent and support recovery from the harmful use of alcohol and drugs". This includes working to create a complete Delivery Plan for the Key Actions highlighted in this Strategy, with more detail including timescales of delivery, performance and outcome measures, and resource allocation requirements.

To achieve this Strategy, the structures of the ADP will need to be reviewed and altered to ensure the aims and priorities can be advanced. The ADP structures need to support this work, involving all partners of the ADP and other organisations who can provide their knowledge and skills to enhance the work of the ADP.

The ADP will also need to work collaboratively to develop data collection for Argyll & Bute. There is a lack of quality data at local level for key indicators and as the priority workstreams are developed, data collection and performance monitoring will also need to be developed. The move to outcome focused delivery must be underpinned with data to ensure that the Strategy's Key Actions are being delivered within Argyll & Bute.

Good partnership working between the key partners of the ADP and with other agencies is required. Past tensions between partners will need to be resolved and a new way forward found. An open dialogue is required to maintain the direction outlined in this Strategy. All partners are valued within the ADP and professionalism is required by all to deliver the Strategy for the benefit of the community.

Appendix 1: Core ADP Outcomes (set by the Scottish Government)

- 1. HEALTH: People are healthier and experience fewer risks as a result of alcohol and drug use: a range of improvements to physical and mental health, as well as wider well-being, should be experienced by individuals and communities where harmful drug and alcohol use is being reduced, including fewer acute and long-term risks to physical and mental health, and a reduced risk of drug or alcohol-related mortality.
- 2. PREVALENCE: Fewer adults and children are drinking or using drugs at levels or patterns that are damaging to themselves or others: a reduction in the prevalence of harmful levels of drug and alcohol use as a result of prevention, changing social attitudes, and recovery is a vital intermediate outcome in delivering improved long-term health, social and economic outcomes. Reducing the number of young people misusing alcohol and drugs will also reduce health risks, improve lifechances and may reduce the likelihood of individuals developing problematic use in the future.
- 3. RECOVERY: Individuals are improving their health, well-being and life-chances by recovering from problematic drug and alcohol use: a range of health, psychological, social and economic improvements in well-being should be experienced by individuals who are recovering from problematic drug and alcohol use, including reduced consumption, fewer co-occurring health issues, improved family relationships and parenting skills, stable housing; participation in education and employment, and involvement in social and community activities.
- **4. FAMILIES: Children and family members of people misusing alcohol and drugs are safe, well-supported and have improved life-chances:** this will include reducing the risks and impact of drug and alcohol misuse on users' children and other family members; supporting the social, educational and economic potential of children and other family members; and helping family members support the recovery of their parents, children and significant others.
- **5. COMMUNITY SAFETY: Communities and individuals are safe from alcohol and drug related offending and anti-social behaviour:** reducing alcohol and drug-related offending, re-offending and anti-social behaviour, including violence, acquisitive crime, drug-dealing and driving while intoxicated, will make a positive contribution in ensuring safer, stronger, happier and more resilient communities.
- **6. LOCAL ENVIRONMENT: People live in positive, health-promoting local environments where alcohol and drugs are less readily available:** alcohol and drug misuse is less likely to develop and recovery from problematic use is more likely to be successful in strong, resilient communities where healthy lifestyles and wider well-being are promoted, where there are opportunities to participate in meaningful activities, and where alcohol and drugs are less readily available. Recovery will not be stigmatised, but supported and championed in the community.
- 7. SERVICES: Alcohol and drugs prevention, treatment and support services are high quality, continually improving, efficient, evidence-based and responsive, ensuring people move through treatment into sustained recovery: services should offer timely, sensitive and appropriate support, which meets the needs of different local groups (including those with particular needs according to their age, gender, disability, health, race, ethnicity and sexual orientation) and facilitates their recovery. Services should use local data and evidence to make decisions about service improvement and re-design.

References

Alcohol Problems (SMACAP) Essential Services Working Group: Quality Alcohol Treatment and Support (QATS) Available at:

http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2011/03/21111515/5

Scottish Government 2012 *HEAT: A11 Drug and Alcohol waiting time target* Available at:

http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Topics/People/Equality/18507/EQIASearch/HEAT A11

Scottish Prison Service 2011 *Prisoner Survey 2011* Available at: http://www.sps.gov.uk/Publications/Publication-3696.aspx

http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/Doc/159094/0043262.pdf

¹ Nicola Sturgeon (2012) <u>www.snp.org/blog/post/2012/mar/dfm-nicola-</u> sturgeons-address-conference

Argyll & Bute Council *Population: Where we live* available at: http://www.argyll-bute.gov.uk/info/population-where-we-live

iii McKeganeny, N., Barnard, M. & Bain, C. (2012) *Drug and Alcohol services in Argyll and Bute: A Needs Analysis*

McNally, C. 2011 Young People's Drinking Patterns Across One CHP Area

Scottish Government 2011 Scotland Performs Available at:
http://www.scotland.gov.uk/About/Performance/scotPerforms
vi Scottish Government 2011 Scottish Ministerial Advisory Committee on

National Records of Scotland 2012 *Drug-related Death in Scotland 2011*Available at: http://www.gro-scotland.gov.uk/files2/stats/drug-related-deaths/2011/drug-related-deaths/2011.pdf

^{*} Scottish Government 2006 Getting our Priorities Right - Policy and Practice Guidelines for Working With Children and Families Affected by Problem Drug Use Available at:

xi Scottish Government 2012 *A Guide to Getting it Right For Every Child* Available at: http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/0039/00394308.pdf

xii Scottish Government 2010 *CAPSM Strategy 2010-2012* Available at: http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Topics/People/Young-People/protecting/child-protection/capsm/strategy

Scottish Government 2010 National Guidance for Child Protection in Scotland Available at: http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2010/12/09134441/0